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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
   Plaintiff,    No. 1:18-CR-166 
 
  vs.      Hon. Paul L. Maloney 
        United States District Judge 
DANIEL DARIO TREVINO, 
 
    Defendant. 
_________________________________/ 

GOVERNMENT’S TRIAL BRIEF 

Plaintiff, United States of America, by and through its attorneys, Andrew Byerly Birge, 

United States Attorney for the Western District of Michigan, and Joel S. Fauson and Daniel T. 

McGraw, Assistant United States Attorneys, hereby submits its trial brief with a summary of the 

expected evidence and applicable law. 

INTRODUCTION 

Daniel Dario Trevino will stand trial on August 20, 2019 on ten charges contained in the 

Superseding Indictment: Count 1: conspiracy to manufacture, distribute, and possess with intent 

to distribute 100 kilograms or more of marijuana or 100 or more marijuana plants; Counts 2, 6, 8, 

9, and 10: maintaining a drug-involved premises; Counts 3, 4, and 7: manufacture of marijuana; 

and Count 5: possession with intent to distribute marijuana.  The charges contained in Counts 1 

and 7 allege quantities of marijuana that carry a five year mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment for Trevino, if he is convicted. 

All three of Trevino’s co-defendants have entered into plea agreements and pled guilty to 

the conspiracy charge.  The Government anticipates that each co-defendant will testify at trial. 
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BACKGROUND AND ANTICIPATED PROOFS 

Trevino is the owner and operator of Hydro World, LLC (“Hydroworld”) a marijuana 

dispensary that operated in Lansing, Grand Rapids, Jackson, Flint, and Mount Pleasant, 

Michigan.  Hydroworld operated in Lansing and dispensed marijuana there from at least 2010 

until the end of 2017.  It operated in Grand Rapids from at least 2013 to 2014.  Trevino was 

registered as a patient on the Michigan Medical Marijuana Act (“MMMA”) registry from May 

27, 2009 through December 1, 2017.  He renewed his registration on or about February 7, 2018.  

Trevino was never registered as a caregiver under state law; he was ineligible because of prior 

felony drug convictions.  Consequently, under the MMMA, Trevino was only ever allowed to 

possess 2.5 ounces of usable marijuana and up to 12 marijuana plants for his own use.  Despite 

these limitations, he was the undisputed leader of Hydroworld.  He solicited growers, purchased 

marijuana, manufactured marijuana, and distributed marijuana on an enterprise scale, all while 

claiming compliance with the MMMA to avoid prosecution.  Trevino employed numerous 

individuals through Hydroworld over the many years of its operation.  

Individuals wishing to purchase marijuana could go to Hydroworld and purchase various 

strains of marijuana, marijuana edibles, and marijuana-infused products.  Individuals that went to 

Hydroworld to purchase marijuana would receive marijuana grown by one of Hydroworld’s 

suppliers, not necessarily marijuana grown by that individual’s registered caregiver as required 

by state law.   

Trevino created a “Get Legal for Free” program that Hydroworld advertised to obtain 

new business and increase its marijuana sales.  Under this program, marijuana growers paid the 

fee for prospective MMMA patients to be certified by a doctor at a clinic sponsored by 

Hydroworld and to have the certification forms checked by Hydroworld staff before submission 
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to the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (“LARA”) for approval.  In 

exchange, those growers obtained new MMMA patients so they could increase the amount of 

marijuana they could cultivate.  Much of this additional marijuana was sold to Hydroworld for 

further distribution to its customers.  Through Hydroworld, Trevino acted as a middleman to 

expand the roll of individuals registered under the MMMA and to profit off the sale of 

marijuana. 

No later than 2011, state law enforcement teams suspected that Trevino’s operations were 

in violation of state law.  This led to search warrants at various Hydroworld retail locations.  

Each time a Hydroworld retail location was searched, law enforcement encountered a similar 

scene: a counter with glass jars containing processed marijuana for resale to customers; a menu 

of Hydroworld’s marijuana offerings; digital scales to weigh the processed marijuana; packaging 

material; marijuana edibles such as cookies, brownies, and candies packaged for sale; marijuana 

“starter plants” for sale; cash; cash proceeds from marijuana sales organized in envelopes in a 

safe; and, marijuana sales records.  Law enforcement also frequently encountered MMMA 

records for individuals that used Hydroworld to obtain a MMMA patient or caregiver card.  The 

Hydroworld retail outlets also typically contained indicia of Trevino’s ownership – i.e. either a 

sign, poster, or other paperwork indicating it was “Danny Trevino’s Hydroworld.”  Searches 

yielding this type of evidence occurred at the following Hydroworld locations on at least the 

following dates: 

 September 29, 2011: 700 W. Barnes, Lansing, MI 

 September 29, 2011: 834 N. West Avenue, Jackson, MI 

 February 8, 2013: 207 W. Broadway Street, Mt. Pleasant, MI 

 February 25, 2013: 834 N. West Avenue, Jackson, MI 
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 July 1, 2013: 800 Wildwood Avenue, Jackson, MI 

 July 8, 2013: 800 Wildwood Avenue, Jackson, MI 

 October 30, 2013: 6701 Old 28th Street, SE, Grand Rapids, MI 

 December 13, 2013: 800 Wildwood Avenue, Jackson, MI 

 August 7, 2014: 6701 Old 28th Street, SE, Grand Rapids, MI 

 May 3, 2016: 1523 S. Cedar Street, Lansing, MI 

 May 3, 2016: 3308 S. Cedar Street, Lansing, MI 

Notably, at the search of 1523 S. Cedar on May 3, 2016, law enforcement identified a grow 

operation involving over 100 marijuana plants.  At the search of 3308 S. Cedar Street on the 

same date, law enforcement encountered a grow operation involving over 500 marijuana plants.  

The government intends to offer evidence from all of the searches listed above at trial.   

Law enforcement also searched residences and other locations associated with Trevino 

and Hydroworld’s operations.  Trevino’s residence in Lansing was searched on September 29, 

2011 and May 3, 2016.  The searches yielded marijuana plants, processed marijuana, digital 

scales, a money counter, the same type of marijuana sales records found at Hydroworld retail 

outlets, and evidence of Trevino’s residency.  Trevino was present during the search on May 3, 

2016. 

Law enforcement searched co-defendant and cooperator Dolores Lopez’s residence in 

Lansing on October 27, 2011.  The search yielded over a kilogram of processed marijuana, 

marijuana plants, marijuana sales records from Hydroworld, and a safe containing thousands of 

dollars of Hydroworld’s cash proceeds.  Lopez arrived at her residence as the search was 

ongoing. 
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Law enforcement also searched co-defendant and cooperator Daniel Corbin’s residence 

in Lansing on May 3, 2016.  The search yielded over a kilogram of processed marijuana, cash, 

growing equipment, marijuana sales records from Hydroworld, and five gallon buckets with lids 

that Hydroworld associates commonly used to transport marijuana and drug proceeds from 

location to location.  Corbin was present during the search on May 3, 2016. 

Trevino, Corbin, and Lopez all used their residences either as grow locations and/or to 

store Hydroworld’s processed marijuana, cash, and records.  Beyond these residences, law 

enforcement also searched and/or encountered other grow locations linked with Hydroworld.  

These included 5621 Manor Drive in Lansing on August 16, 2010; 404 E. Syringa on May 10, 

2013; 1547 Leonard Street, NE in Grand Rapids on April 17, 2014; and, 919 Call Street in 

Lansing on May 21, 2014.  Trevino was present for all or part of the law enforcement contacts at 

Manor Drive, Leonard Street, and Call Street on each of the above dates.  Corbin was also 

present at the Call Street location.  During these encounters, law enforcement identified 

marijuana plants, processed marijuana, and paperwork associating Trevino with Hydroworld.  

The government intends to introduce evidence from these searches and encounters at trial. 

The evidence will show that, despite these searches and encounters with law 

enforcement, which gave Trevino ample notice that Hydroworld and its operations were illegal, 

Trevino continued operating Hydroworld and distributing marijuana. 

As part of its investigation, the government obtained search warrants on Trevino’s 

Facebook accounts.  The material yielded from these searches demonstrated that Trevino used 

Facebook as a primary communication and marketing tool for marijuana distribution.  Trevino 

regularly communicated with co-defendants Dolores Lopez and Daniel Bachelder about 

Hydroworld’s business operations using Facebook messenger.  He also advertised Hydroworld’s 
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marijuana offerings via Facebook and solicited marijuana growers via Facebook.  Even after 

federal law enforcement executed its search warrants on May 3, 2016, evidence obtained from 

Trevino’s Facebook accounts shows that Trevino continued to operate Hydroworld until late 

2017. 

On July 25, 2018, a federal grand jury returned an indictment against Trevino and 

Dolores Lopez, Daniel Bachelder, and Daniel Corbin charging all with conspiracy to 

manufacture, distribute, and possess with intent to distribute marijuana from in or about 2010 

until in or about May 2016 (count 1).  Trevino was also charged with four counts of maintaining 

a drug-involved premises (counts 2, 6, 7, and 8), two counts of manufacturing marijuana (counts 

3 and 5), and one count of possession with intent to distribute marijuana (count 4).  Corbin was 

also charged, along with Trevino, in one count for manufacturing marijuana (count 3) and in one 

count for possession with intent to distribute marijuana (count 9).  Lopez pled guilty to the 

conspiracy charge on October 10, 2018 and Bachelder pled guilty to the conspiracy charge on 

December 21, 2018. 

On January 9, 2019, the grand jury returned a superseding indictment against Trevino and 

Corbin.  The changes to the indictment included expanding the timeframe of the conspiracy 

charged in count 1 from in or about 2010 until in or about December 2017.  The superseding 

indictment also added two substantive charges against Trevino.  One added charge was for 

manufacturing marijuana on April 17, 2014 based on the search of 1547 Leonard Street, NE in 

Grand Rapids.  The other added charge was for maintaining a drug-involved premises on August 

7, 2014 based on law enforcement’s second search of Hydroworld at 6701 Old 28th Street, SE in 

Grand Rapids. 
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On April 15, 2019, Corbin pled guilty to the conspiracy charge.  The Government 

anticipates that Lopez, Corbin, and Bachelder will all testify at Trevino’s trial. 

THE CHARGES 

A. Marijuana Conspiracy (Count 1) 

Count One of the Superseding Indictment charges Trevino with conspiracy to 

manufacture, distribute, and possess with intent to distribute 100 kilograms or more of marijuana 

or 100 or more marijuana plants, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846 and 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).  

Title 21 U.S.C. § 846 provides: 

Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense 
defined in this subchapter shall be subject to the same penalties as 
those prescribed for the offense, the commission of which was the 
object of the attempt or conspiracy. 

Title 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) provides, in relevant part: 

Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any 
person knowingly or intentionally – (1) to manufacture, distribute, 
or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or 
dispense, a controlled substance. 

The crime of conspiracy consists of an agreement to commit a substantive crime, not the actual 

commission of the substantive crime. United States v. Rabinowich, 238 U.S. 78, 87-89 (1915); 

United States v. Mayes, 512 F.2d 637, 652 (6th Cir. 1975); United States v. Bostic, 480 F.2d 965, 

968 (6th Cir. 1973).  A conspiracy is punishable whether or not it succeeds in its objective.  

Therefore, the elements of the conspiracy alleged in the indictment are: 1) that the defendant 

entered into an agreement to manufacture, distribute, and to possess with intent to distribute 

marijuana; and, 2) that he did so knowingly and willingly.  United States v. Sanchez, 928 F.2d 

1450, 1457 (6th Cir. 1991) (abrogated on other grounds); United States v. Meyers, 646 F.2d 

1142 (6th Cir. 1981); United States v. Thompson, 533 F.2d 1006 (6th Cir. 1976). 
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A formal or express agreement is not necessary, a tacit or material understanding among 

the parties will suffice.  United States v. Deitz, 577 F.3d 672, 677 (6th Cir. 2009).  The 

Government does not have to present direct evidence of an agreement.  United States v. 

Thompson, 533 F.2d 1006, 1009 (6th Cir. 1976).  The conspiracy may be inferred from 

circumstantial evidence that can reasonably be interpreted as participation in the common plan.  

United States v. Salgado, 250 F.3d 438, 447 (6th Cir. 2001).  The Government may also show 

the background and formation of the conspiracy.  See United States v. Hitow, 889 F.2d 1573, 

1579 (6th Cir. 1989); United States v. Passarella, 788 F.2d 377 (6th Cir. 1986). 

The crime of conspiracy is complete once there has been an agreement to engage in 

criminal activity.  Once the conspiracy exists, it is presumed to continue in existence until the 

members demonstrate its termination by an affirmative act or the objective is accomplished.  

United States v. Hamilton, 689 F.2d 1262 (6th Cir. 1982); United States v. Etheridge, 424 F.2d 

951, 964 (6th Cir. 1970).  Conviction under 21 U.S.C. § 846 does not require the Government to 

prove that the defendant committed an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy.  United States 

v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10, 11 (1994). 

Once the existence of the conspiracy is independently proven, only slight evidence is 

necessary to connect a defendant with it.  Hitow, 889 F.2d at 1577; United States v. Betancourt, 

838 F.2d168, 174 (6th Cir. 1988).  It is only necessary that a defendant know of the objective of 

the conspiracy, associate himself with it, and knowingly contribute his efforts in its furtherance.  

United States v. Grunsfeld, 558 F.2d 1231 (6th Cir. 1977); United States v. Levinson, 405 F.2d 

971 (6th Cir. 1968).  Participation by a “single act” may be sufficient if it will justify an 

inference of knowledge of the conspiracy.  United States v. Torres, 503 F.2d 1120, 1123-24 (2d 

Cir. 1974).  It is not necessary that a defendant know the full scope of the conspiracy, the 
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detailed plans, operation, membership, or even the role of the other conspirators.  United States 

v. Warner, 690 F.2d 545, 550 (6th Cir. 1982); United States v. Shermetaro, 625 F.2d 104, 108-09 

(6th Cir. 1980).  

The Government is entitled to prove the whole conspiracy, including events in which the 

Defendant played no role.  United States v. Kelley, 849 F.2d 999 (6th Cir. 1988). 

B. Maintaining a Drug Involved Premises (Counts 2, 6, 8, 9, and 10) 

Trevino is also charged in counts 2, 6, 8, 9, and 10 with maintaining a drug-involved 

premises.  These counts correlate with the searches of Hydroworld locations and Trevino’s 

residence on October 30, 2013, August 7, 2014, and May 3, 2016.  Title 21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(1) 

provides: “it shall be unlawful to – knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or maintain any place, 

whether permanently or temporarily, for the purpose of manufacturing, distributing, or using any 

controlled substance.” 

To convict a defendant for maintaining a drug-involved premises, the government must 

prove that the defendant 1) knowingly; 2) maintained any place, whether permanently or 

temporarily; 3) for the purpose of manufacturing, distributing, or using a controlled substance.  

United States v. Lang, 717 F.App’x 523, 545 (6th Cir 2017).  “[O]wnership or primary 

responsibility for a premises is not required by the word maintained.”  Id.  The element is 

satisfied by “control, duration, acquisition of the site, renting or furnishing the site, repairing the 

site, supervising, protecting, supplying food to those at the site, or maintaining continuity.”  Id.  

“A variety of factual scenarios may amount to ‘maintaining’ a drug house under 

§ 856(a),…[including where a person] owns or rents premises, or exercises control over them, 

and for a sustained period of time, uses those premises to manufacture, store, or sell drugs, or 
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directs others to those premises to obtain drugs.”  United States v. Alkufi, 636 F. App’x 323, 337 

(6th Cir. 2016). 

C. Manufacture of Marijuana (Counts 3, 4, and 7) 

Trevino has been charged in counts 3, 4, and 7 of the Superseding Indictment with 

manufacturing marijuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).  Count 7 charges Trevino with 

manufacturing 100 or more marijuana plants.  These counts correlate to law enforcement’s 

search of 1547 Leonard Street, NE on April 17, 2014, 919 Call Street on May 21, 2014, and 

1523 S. Cedar and 3308 S. Cedar on May 3, 2016. 

The elements for manufacturing marijuana are 1) the defendant manufacture marijuana, 

and 2) the defendant did so knowingly or intentionally.  Sixth Circuit Patter Jury Instructions, 

§ 14.03.  The term “manufacture” includes the propagation of a drug.  Id.  To prove that the 

defendant knowingly manufactured marijuana, the defendant did not have to know that the 

substance was marijuana.  It is enough that the defendant knew it was some kind of controlled 

substance.  Further, the defendant did not have to know how much marijuana he manufactured.  

It is enough that the defendant knew that he manufactured some quantity.  Id.  

D. Possession with Intent to Distribute Marijuana (Count 5) 

Trevino is charged in count 5 of the Superseding Indictment with possession with intent 

to distribute marijuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(D).  This charge 

correlates with the processed marijuana found at 919 Call Street on May 21, 2014 and in the 

trunk of a Lexus automobile Trevino was using on that same date.  The elements of possession 

with intent to distribute are that the defendant: (1) knowingly, (2) possessed a controlled 

substance, (3) with intent to distribute it.  United States v. Russell, 595 F.3d 633, 645 (6th Cir. 

2010); Sixth Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions § 14.01.  “The government can base a conviction 
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under § 841(a)(1) upon a showing of either actual or constructive possession.” United States v. 

Wettstain, 618 F.3d 577, 586 (6th Cir. 2010).  “Constructive possession requires evidence 

supporting the conclusion that the defendant had the ability to exercise knowing ‘dominion and 

control’ over the items in question.”  Id.  “[A] jury is entitled to infer that a person exercises 

constructive possession over items found in his home.”  United States v. Hill, 142 F.3d 305, 312 

(6th Cir. 1998).  Furthermore, “[a] jury may find the intent to distribute drugs from the large 

quantity involved.”  Wettstain, 618 F.3d at 586. 

LEGAL AND EVIDENTIARY ISSUES 

A. Co-Conspirator Statements are Admissible 

Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(E) provides that a statement is not hearsay if the 

statement is offered against an opposing party and “was made by the party’s coconspirator 

during and in furtherance of the conspiracy.”  The Supreme Court has held that such statements 

do not violate the Sixth Amendment’s confrontation clause, even if the declarant is not available.  

United States v. Inadi, 475 U.S. 387 (1986).  During the course of its investigation, law 

enforcement obtained numerous Facebook communications between Trevino, Lopez, and 

Bachelder.  Law enforcement also obtained telephone text messages between Trevino and 

Corbin.  Communications involving the charged co-conspirators are admissible under Federal 

Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(E). 

To establish a foundation for admissibility of statements under this rule, the United States 

must show that: (1) a conspiracy existed; (2) the defendant against whom the statement is offered 

was a member of the conspiracy; and (3) the statement was made in the course of and in 

furtherance of the conspiracy. United States v. Young, 553 F.3d 1035, 1045 (6th Cir. 2009); 

United States v. Vinson, 606 F.2d 149 (6th Cir. 1979).  These requirements must be established 
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by a preponderance of the evidence.  Young, 553 F.3d at 1045; United States v. Bourjaily, 781 

F.2d 539, 542 (6th Cir. 1986), aff’d, 483 U.S. 171 (1987); United States v. Enright, 579 F.2d 

980, 986 (6th Cir. 1978).  “[I]f it is more likely than not that the declarant and the defendant were 

members of a conspiracy when the hearsay statement was made, and that the statement was in 

furtherance of the conspiracy, the hearsay is admissible.”  Id.  This determination is made by the 

court, not the jury under Federal Rule of Evidence 104(a).  Id.  In making this determination, the 

court may take into consideration the proposed statements themselves.  Bourjaily v. United 

States, 483 U.S. 171, 175 (1987); United States v. Hancock, 703 F.2d 982 (6th Cir. 1983); 

Vinson, 606 F.2d at 153.  Once the requirements for admissibility under Rule 801(d)(2)(E) have 

been met, statements by one conspirator are treated as vicarious admissions by all members of 

the conspiracy.  United States v. Kendricks, 623 F.2d 1165, 1167-68 (6th Cir. 1980). 

In Vinson, the Sixth Circuit set forth three alternative methods of establishing the 

requirement for admissibility under Rule 801(d)(2)(E): 

1. The court, without a jury, may hold a pretrial “mini-hearing” 
in which the government presents its proof of conspiracy and 
the court makes a preliminary Enright finding; 

2. The court may require the government to meet its initial 
burden by producing the non-hearsay evidence of conspiracy 
at trial prior to making an Enright finding; 

3. The court may admit the coconspirator statements 
conditionally, subject to the government establishing the 
Enright requirements prior to the close of its proofs; 

606 F.2d at 152-53.  The United States urges the court to employ the third method, based on the 

abundant proffered evidence above from the investigation, which includes a large amount of 

seized drug evidence from a large number of searches, Facebook communications, cellular phone 

text messages, and cooperating defendant testimony.  The practice of conditionally admitting 
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coconspirator testimony has repeatedly been approved by the Sixth Circuit.  See United States v. 

Christian, 786 F.2d 203, 212 (6th Cir. 1986); Bourjaily, 781 F.2d at 542; United States v. 

Holloway, 731 F.2d 378, 382 (6th Cir. 1984); Vinson, 606 F.2d at 149. 

To be admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(E), the statements must be made in the course of, 

and in furtherance of, the conspiracy.  The burden is on the defendant to affirmatively prove 

either that the conspiracy had been abandoned or that he had withdrawn. 

[W]here a conspiracy contemplates a continuity of purpose and a 
continued performance of acts, it is presumed to exist until there has 
been an affirmative showing that it has been terminated; and its 
members continue to be conspirators until there has been an 
affirmative showing that they have withdrawn. 

United States v. Hamilton, 689 F.2d 1262, 1268 (6th Cir. 1982).  If the defendant fails to meet 

this burden of showing abandonment or withdrawal, the statement is deemed to have been made 

in the course of the conspiracy. 

“A statement is made ‘in furtherance of’ the conspiracy if it was intended to promote 

conspiratorial objectives; it need not actually further the conspiracy.”  United States v. Kelsor, 

665 F.3d 684, 694 (6th Cir. 2011).  “Statements in furtherance of a conspiracy take many forms, 

including statements that keep a coconspirator apprised of another’s activities, induce continued 

participation, or allay his fears.”  Id.  “We have found statements to be in furtherance of a 

conspiracy where they “‘identify other co-conspirators and their roles,’ apprise other co-

conspirators of the status of the conspiracy, or indicate ‘the source or purchaser of controlled 

substances.’”  United States v. Warman, 578 F.3d 320, 338 (6th Cir. 2009).  “Mere ‘idle chatter’ 

or conversations which further the speaker’s own individual objectives rather than the objectives 

of the conspiracy are not made in furtherance of the conspiracy.”  United States v. Salgado, 250 

F.3d 438, 449 – 50 (6th Cir. 2001).  “In determining whether a statement is admissible under 
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Rule 801(d)(2)(E), the court may consider the contents of the statement itself in weighing the 

evidence.”  Id. at 449.     

The coconspirator exception is not limited to oral statements.  It may also include notes, 

emails, letters, text messages, or documents prepared during the course of and in furtherance of 

the conspiracy.  See, e.g. United States v. Martinez, 430 F.3d 317, 326-27 (6th Cir. 2005) 

(anonymous letter admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(E) because circumstantial evidence proved 

by a preponderance that there was a conspiracy involving the author and defendant, and the 

statement was made in the course of and in furtherance of the conspiracy); United States v. 

Engler, 521 F.3d 965, 973 (8th Cir. 2008) (text message from unknown declarant received by 

drug defendant telling him to “clean” and “flush” because the “cops [are] outside” admissible as 

a coconspirator statement under Rule 801(d)(2)(E)); F.T.C. v. Ross, 743 F.3d 886, 894 (4th Cir. 

2014) (email by coconspirator admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(E)); United States v. El-Mezain, 

664 F.3d 467, 501-07 (5th Cir. 2011) (annual reports, meeting agendas, and minutes found in the 

home of unindicted coconspirators admissible under Rule 801(d)(2)(E) as statements of 

coconspirators in trial for conspiracy to provide material aid and support to designated terrorist 

organization); United States v. Diez, 515 F.2d 892, 899-900 (5th Cir. 1975) (work papers of 

coconspirator accountant admissible as coconspirator statement or business records).  For this 

reason, one avenue for the admission of seized marijuana sales records is the co-conspirator 

exception to the hearsay rule.  

Finally, because statements made by a coconspirator during and in furtherance of a 

conspiracy are not testimonial in nature, the admission of such statements does not violate the 

Confrontation Clause.  As the Sixth Circuit ruled in United States v. Martinez:  

A statement made by one participant in a criminal enterprise to 
another, intended to further the enterprise, is not testimonial.  Other 
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circuits that have addressed the impact of [Crawford v. Washington] 
on the admission of statements that meet the requirements of 
801(d)(2)(E) have uniformly held that the statements are not 
testimonial in nature. 

430 F.3d 317, 329 (6th Cir. 2005) (internal citations omitted). 

B. Daniel Trevino’s Statements Are Admissible Against Him 

Investigators obtained a number of posts from Trevino’s Facebook pages where he is 

advertising marijuana at Hydroworld and soliciting marijuana growers.  Furthermore, when 

Trevino encountered law enforcement, he often made statements acknowledging that he was the 

owner and operator of Hydroworld, that he had been searched by police a number of times, and 

did not hide the fact that he was involved with manufacturing and distributing marijuana.  All of 

these statements that Trevino made – whether to the public writ large via Facebook – or to law 

enforcement during various encounters, are admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule under 

Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(A). 

C. Exculpatory Statements of a Defendant are Hearsay When Offered by the Defendant 

While the Government may introduce incriminating portions of a defendant’s statement, 

this does not make self-serving exculpatory portions admissible through the testimony of a 

defense witness.  See United States v. McDaniel, 398 F.3d 540, 545 (6th Cir. 2005) (“Rule 

801(d)(2)…does not extend to a party’s attempt to introduce his or her own statements through 

the testimony of other witnesses.”). 

Admissions by a party-opponent are not considered hearsay and 
therefore can be admitted against that party.  Fed. R. Evid. 
801(d)(2).  Thus, during direct examination, the government could 
have introduced inculpatory statements made by [the defendant].  
The rules do not, however provide an exception for self-serving, 
exculpatory statements made by a party which are being sought for 
admission by that same party.   
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United States v. Wilkerson, 84 F.3d 692, 696 (4th Cir. 1996) (FBI agent not required to answer 

cross examination questions seeking to elicit exculpatory materials).  “I[f] such statements were 

deemed admissible under Rule 801(d)(2), parties could effectuate an end-run around the 

adversarial process by, in effect, testifying without swearing to an oath, facing cross-

examination, or being subjected to first-hand scrutiny by the jury.” McDaniel, 398 F.3d at 545 

(citation omitted). Unless a defendant, as declarant, is on the witness stand and subject to cross 

examination, out of court statements by the defendant constitute hearsay evidence unless offered 

against him as a party opponent. United States v. Fernandez, 839 F2d 639 (9th Cir. 1988); 

United States v. Willis, 759 F2d 1486, 1501 (11th Cir. 1985).  

Consistent with this rule, a defendant cannot offer into evidence his own hearsay 

statements made in an effort to exculpate himself from criminal liability. Only the Government, 

as a party opponent, can offer such evidence. This is especially true since the defendant, as 

declarant, is readily available as a witness and therefore can be subjected to cross examination 

concerning his own statements. Fernandez, supra.  See also United States v. Kapp, 781 F.2d 

1008 (3rd Cir. 1986) cert. denied 106 S.Ct. 1220. (Government not a "party opponent" when the 

defendant seeks to introduce exculpatory statements under FRE 801(d)(2)). 

An exculpatory statement by definition is not made against ones’ penal interest and 

therefore does not have any of the indicia of reliability the hearsay rule was designed to secure. 

See, e.g., United States v. Hooks, 848 F2d 785, 796 (7th Cir. 1988) (proper to exclude 

exculpatory statements of unindicted coconspirators that were not made under oath, not against 

penal interest and not corroborated -- the court noting that the criteria for admission of such 

statements are "stringent"); United States v. Thomas, 919 F2d 495 (8th Cir. 1990).  (Exculpatory 

statements by deceased co-defendant inadmissible hearsay). In Thomas, the court noted: 
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There is no question but that Congress meant to preclude reception of exculpatory 
hearsay statements against penal interest unless accompanied by circumstances 
solidly indicating trustworthiness. This requirement goes beyond minimal 
corroboration. 

Id. at 498 (citing United States v. Barrett, 539 F.2d 244 (1st Cir. 1976); see also FRE 804(b)(3) 

(statements against interest not precluded by the rule against hearsay if declarant is unavailable 

as a witness). 

The residual exception to the hearsay rule does not come into play unless the proffered 

statement is not specifically covered by any other exception. As the court in Thomas noted: 

It is intended that the residual hearsay exceptions will be used very rarely, and only 
in exceptional circumstances . . . The residual exceptions are not meant to authorize 
major judicial revisions of the hearsay rule, including its present exceptions. 

Consequently, the defense can bring forth any exculpatory statements of the defendant-declarant 

(or any other witness offering hearsay evidence) to law enforcement personnel from the 

defendant when and if he or she takes the stand.  

D. If Admitted, the Government May Impeach a Defendant’s Hearsay Statements 

Should the defense introduce exculpatory hearsay statements of any person (including a 

defendant’s) the Government is entitled to immediately introduce impeachment evidence 

concerning the declarant.  United States v. Lawson, 608 F2d 1129, 1130 (6th Cir. 1979) (proper 

to impeach the defendant when his counsel brought out on cross-examination of a Government 

witness the defendant’s denials of any involvement in the crime); United States v. Noble, 754 

F2d 1324 (7th Cir. 1985); United States v. Bovain, 708 F2d 606, 613 (11th Cir.1983). 

In this regard, should the defense elicit hearsay statements of the defendant or any other 

witness at trial, the Government intends to impeach the defendant or witness through their prior 

felony convictions and/or prior statements. 
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E. Plea Agreements are Admissible 

A jury is entitled to review the entire plea agreement between the Government and a 

witness in order to assess the credibility of the witness.  In this regard, the plea agreement itself 

is admissible in evidence during direct examination.  United States v. Townsend, 796 F.2d 158, 

162 (6th Cir. 1986). 

". . . courts have consistently recognized that 'the elicitation of the 
fact of the agreement and the witness' understanding of it . . . should 
be permitted on direct examination in order to anticipate cross-
examination by the defendant which might give the jury the 
unjustified impression that the government was concealing this 
relevant fact."  United States v. Edwards, 631 F.2d 1049, 1052 (2d 
Cir. 1980).  (Other citations omitted.) 

Id. at 162. 

The Sixth Circuit has held the elicitation of a plea agreement containing a promise to 

testify truthfully does not constitute impermissible bolstering of the witness' credibility. Id. at 

163.  

F. If the Defendant Testifies, the United States Intends to Impeach Defendant by 
Presenting Evidence of his Prior Convictions 

Should the Defendant testify at trial, the United States will impeach the Defendant 

through evidence of his prior felony convictions.  In 2014, the defendant was convicted of felony 

assaulting/resisting/obstructing a police officer, in violation of Mich. Comp. Laws § 750.81d(1).  

The defendant was also convicted in 1994 of felony controlled substance attempted 

delivery/manufacture of less than 50 grams, in violation of Mich. Comp. Laws 

§ 333.7401(2)(a)(iv).  Trevino also has a 2002 conviction for conspiracy to deliver/manufacture 

marijuana in violation of Mich. Comp. Laws § 333.7401(2)(d)(iii). 

Federal Rule of Evidence 609(a)(1)(B) provides that the evidence of a felony must be 

admitted in a criminal case if the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect 
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to that defendant.  Rule 609(b) generally limits the admission of such evidence to such 

convictions occurring within the past ten years.  However evidence of convictions older than ten 

years is admissible if 1) its probative value, supported by specific facts and circumstances, 

substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect; and 2) the proponent give an adverse party 

reasonable written notice of the intent to use it so that the party has a fair opportunity to contest 

its use.  Fed. R. Evid. 609(b)(1), (2). 

The United States hereby gives notice to the defendant that should the defendant take the 

stand at trial, it intends to impeach the defendant with the aforementioned felony convictions, to 

include defendant’s felony drug convictions that are more than ten years old.  Defendant’s prior 

felony drug convictions are highly probative to the extent that defendant tries to put up any sort 

of defense that he was not aware of the drug laws, did not know that what he was doing was 

illegal, or that he had the authority to serve as a caregiver and cultivate and possess marijuana on 

behalf of other patients under the MMMA.  An individual convicted of a felony within the past 

ten years may not serve as a caregiver.  Mich. Comp. Law § 333.26423(k).  And, no individual 

convicted of a felony involving illegal drugs, regardless of the age of the conviction, may serve 

as a caregiver.  Id. 

G. Stipulations on the Identity of Controlled Substances  

Absent a stipulation from the defense, the government intends to offer expert testimony 

regarding the identification of controlled substances seized in this case.  The defendant has 

indicated that he will stipulate to the identity of marijuana seized from Hydroworld retail locations 

and his residence.  This will reduce the number of laboratory witnesses the government will have 

to call.  However, the government anticipates having to call laboratory witnesses for marijuana 

seized from grow locations otherwise linked to the conspiracy, such as 919 Call Street. 
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H. Authentication of Facebook Evidence 

The government intends to introduce evidence obtained from search warrants executed 

on Defendant’s two Facebook accounts with the following usernames: 

http://www.facebook.com/danny.trevino.71 and http://www.facebook.com/dee.te.908347.  The 

United States informed defense counsel that it intended to rely on a certification under Federal 

Rule of Evidence 902(11) in lieu of calling a witness from Facebook to lay foundation that the 

records received from Facebook were kept in the ordinary course of their business and 

Facebook’s methods for recording the information submitted to it on Trevino’s accounts was not 

infirm.  Counsel for the United States forwarded to defense counsel the relevant certifications.  

Defense counsel stated he would accept the certifications.  The certifications provide, in relevant 

part: 

The records provided are an exact copy of the records that were 
made and kept by the automated systems of Facebook in the course 
of regularly conducted activity as a regular practice of Facebook.  
The records were saved in electronic format after search of 
Facebook’s automated systems in accordance with the above-
specified legal process.  The records were made at or near the time 
the information was transmitted by the Facebook user. 

Otherwise, authentication of Trevino’s social media photos, communications, and other 

postings will be achieved through traditional authentication under Federal Rule of Evidence 901.  

See United States v. Farrad, 895 F.3d 859, 875 – 80 (6th Cir. 2018).  Federal Rule of Evidence 

901 requires the proponent of an item of evidence to “produce evidence sufficient to support a 

finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is.”  Such authentication may be achieved 

through testimony of a witness with knowledge “that an item is what it is claimed to be.”  Fed. R. 

Evid. 901(b)(1).  The United States will present testimony that the two Facebook accounts in 

question are Trevino’s based on photos and other posts he made to the account advertising 
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marijuana through Hydroworld, as well as conversations that he had from the account with 

Lopez and Bachelder.   

I. The Government Intends to Offer Rule 1006 Exhibits Summarizing Facebook 
Communications, Text Message Communications, and Marijuana Sales 

The government previously filed a motion in limine to admit under Rule 1006 Facebook 

communications between Trevino, Lopez, and Bachelder, text message communications, and 

summaries of marijuana sales records.  (R.179, PageID.1616; R.180: PageID.1617 – 25.)  

Defendant has indicated he will not contest the form the Government intends to present these 

communications in, which is detailed in its motion in limine and which, were attached as 

Exhibits A and B to that motion. 

The marijuana sales record summaries are based on thousands of pages of marijuana 

sales records that were seized during various searches.  The defense is currently objecting to the 

admission of these charts under Rule 1006.  (R.194: PageID.1725 – 30.)  The charts have been 

produced to the defense, as well as the underlying records.  The argument in favor of admission 

of these charts is outlined in the government’s brief in support of its motion in limine as well as 

the reply it filed on August 9, 2019 in response to the defendant’s opposition.  (R.211-1: 

PageID.1789 – 1793.)  The government requests a ruling by the Court on its motion in limine at 

the Final Pretrial Conference. 

J. Routine Destruction of Evidence Does Not Bar Testimony Concerning the Destroyed 
Evidence 

DEA destroyed much of the marijuana seized on May 3, 2016 pursuant to a routine 

procedure, but only after saving representative samples for laboratory analysis.  Similarly, the 

Kent Area Narcotics Enforcement Team (KANET) has no physical marijuana remaining from 

its October 30, 2013 and August 7, 2014 searches of Hydroworld.  And, the Grand Rapids 

Police Department does not have the marijuana from its April 17, 2014 search of Trevino’s 
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grow facility at 1547 Leonard Street in Grand Rapids.  Unless a defendant can show bad faith 

in the failure to preserve potentially useful evidence, there is no due process violation. United 

States v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988); Accord, United States v. Allen, 954 F.2d 1160 (6th 

Cir. 1992); Kordenbrock v. Scroggy, 919 F.2d 1091 (6th Cir. 1990); Ford v. Seabold, 841 F.2d 

677 (6th Cir. 1988).   

The Government is not under any duty to preserve evidence unless the evidence 

possesses an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed, and it is also of such 

a nature that the defendant may not be able to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably 

available means. California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984). In order to show error of a 

constitutional magnitude, the evidence destroyed must have had exculpatory value and there 

must be no other way to get comparable evidence. Id. The destruction of evidence becomes a 

problem of constitutional magnitude only in the most extreme cases. United States v. 

Augenblick, 393 U.S. 348 (1969). 

The negligent destruction of evidence is not the same as bad faith. United States v. 

Wright, 260 F.3d 568 (6th Cir. 2001). In United States v. Allen, 954 F.2d 1160 (6th Cir. 1992) 

the Court rejected defendant=s argument that his due process rights were violated because the 

agents had destroyed evidence by destroying his marijuana crop, thus making it impossible for 

him to have direct evidence as to the quantity of marijuana for sentencing purposes. The Court 

held that defendant=s failure to demonstrate bad faith negated any constitutional claim. 

Similarly in Kordenbrock v. Scroggy, 919 F.2d 1091 (6th Cir. 1990) the Court found that the 

destruction of a taped confession, loss of the drug evidence and the loss of a photographic 

lineup shown to a witness resulted in no due process violation because the defendant was 

unable to show bad faith. 
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District Courts are frequently called upon to determine whether or not the routine 

destruction of evidence should bar any testimony concerning its existence and/or conclusions 

reached by persons examining the now-unavailable evidence. The Courts have uniformly held 

that the destruction of the evidence is no bar to testimony concerning it, absent bad faith being 

shown by the defendant coupled with proven prejudice to the defendant. See, e.g.: United States 

v. Loud Hawk, 628 F.2d 1139 (9th Cir. 1982) (Destruction of dynamite by state authorities 

pursuant to an unwritten policy because of danger, chain of custody, etc...no violation because 

secondary evidence available -- witnesses who heard the "boom") (rev’d on other grounds); 

United States v. Stevens, 935 F.2d 1380 (3rd Cir. 1991) (semen sample destroyed in FBI test); 

United States v. Boyd, 961 F.2d 434 (3rd Cir. 1992)(same – urine); United States v. Heffington, 

952 F.2d 275 (9th Cir. 1991) (same – destruction of contaminated evidence before scientific or 

fingerprint testing); Jones v. McCaughtry, 965 F.2d 473 (7th Cir 1992) (a single sperm cell); 

United States v. Nesbitt, 852 F.2d 1502 (7th Cir 1988) (chemicals); United States v. Pendas-

Martinez, 845 F.2d 938 (11th Cir. 1988) (marijuana seeds); Sargent v. Armontrout, 841 F.2d 220 

(8th Cir. 1988) (fired bullet); United States v. Binker, 795 F.2d 1218 (5th Cir. 1986) (bales of 

marijuana); United States v. Kennedy, 714 F.2d 968 (9th Cir. 1983) (semen stains). 

Even though some of the physical evidence in the present case no longer exists, that is 

no bar to the introduction of testimony concerning its handling and the ultimate opinion 

evidence that will be offered by the Government's expert witness that the substance was indeed 

marijuana. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

ANDREW BYERLY BIRGE, 
United States Attorney 
 

Dated: August 12, 2019    /s/ Joel S. Fauson    
JOEL S. FAUSON 
DANIEL T. McGRAW 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
P.O. Box 208 
Grand Rapids, MI 49501-0208 
(616) 456-2404 
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